### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



CLERK, SUPREME COURT By\_\_\_\_\_

Chief Deputy Clark

CASE NO. 83,759

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

٧.

KEITH BERNARD BROWN,

Respondent.

## PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 159089

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

##

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the First District Court of Appeal and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner, the prosecution, or the State. Respondent, Keith Bernard Brown, the Appellant in the First District Court of Appeal and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent or his proper name.

References to the opinion of the First District Court of Appeal, found in Appendix 4 of this brief, will be noted by its Florida Law Weekly citation.

The symbol "R" will refer to the record on appeal, and the symbol "T" will refer to the transcript of the trial court's sentencing proceedings; the symbol will be followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

All emphasis is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State seeks review of the decision of the First District Court of Appeal, Brown v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D645 (Fla. 1st DCA March 24, 1994)(BrownIV, attached as Appendix 4), that reversed the trial court's denial of a motion for post-conviction relief.

This case originated with the Respondent's indictment for the August 16, 1988, First

Degree Murder of Michael Louis Cole. (R 41) A jury convicted Respondent of Second

Degree Murder and Armed Robbery. (R 1, 32, 55) The State served on Respondent by hand
its Notice of Intent to Seek Departure from Sentencing Guidelines and Supporting

Memorandum. (R 49-54) The State's Notice relied upon and discussed four reasons in support
of its request for an upward departure, such as Escalating Pattern of Criminality, referencing
eleven prior delinquency adjudications. The adjudications included four Grand Theft Autos,
two Burglary to Autos, and two Aggravated Batteries. (R 50-52)

The trial judge sentenced Respondent to life in prison for Second Degree Murder and twenty-seven years for Armed Robbery. (R 1, 55-59) The sentencing occurred on Friday, August 18, 1989. (R 55, 59)

On Wednesday, August 23, 1989, the trial court signed its written order, entitled Statement of Reasons for Upward Departure from Sentencing Guidelines. (R 60, 64) The Statement was filed with the clerk on August 24, 1989. (R 60) In the written Statement an "Escalating Pattern on Criminality" was among the reasons for upwardly departing. The trial court cited to Respondent's previous convictions for Grand Theft Auto, Burglary to Auto,

Trespass, Grand Theft Auto, Grand Theft Auto, Burglary to Auto, Petit Theft, Making Threats, Aggravated Battery, Aggravated Battery, and Grand Theft Auto. (R 60-61)

Respondent filed a direct appeal in the First District Court of Appeal. He raised three issues. One of them was whether "the trial court erred in departing from the sentencing guidelines without providing a contemporaneous written statement of the reasons at the time the sentence was imposed." Brown v. State, 565 So. 2d 369, 370 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990)(BrownI, attached as Appendix 1).

On April 26, 1990, Pope v. State, 561 So. 2d 554 (Fla. 1990), was decided. On July 19, 1990, Ree v. State, 565 So. 2d 1329 (Fla. 1990), was decided. It stated that it "shall only be applied prospectively." Id. at 1331.

On August 6, 1990, the First DCA decided BrownI; rehearing was denied on September 6, 1990. Id. at 369. BrownI held that the trial court did not commit error where a few days after the sentencing, he reduced to writing his reasons for upwardly departing from the sentencing guidelines. The First District Court of Appeal's mandate issued on September 24, 1990. Respondent sought review in the Florida Supreme Court, and on January 2, 1991, this Court denied review in Brown v. State, 576 So. 2d 285 (Fla. 1991)(BrownII; attached as Appendix 2).

On April 2, 1992, Smith v. State, 598 So. 2d 1063 (Fla. 1992), was decided, with rehearing denied on June 16, 1992. Id. at 1063.

This fact is obtained from <u>Brown v. State</u>, 617 So. 2d 1105, 1105 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993), which is attached as Appendix 3 and designated as <u>Brown</u>III. This brief will discuss BrownIII infra.

Respondent, on November 17, 1992, filed the Motion for Post-Conviction Relief Pursuant to Rule 3.850, Fla. R. Cr. Pr. (1988). (R 1) One of the grounds in the motion alleged: "The trial court erred in departing from the sentencing guidelines without providing contemporaneous written statement of reasons at the time sentence was imposed." (R 2) The memorandum accompanying the Motion argued that Smith v. State, 598 So. 2d 1063 (Fla. 1992), "must mark a development of fundamental significance." (R 10) It also argued that BrownI did not become final "until January 2, 1991, the date the [Florida] Supreme Court denied review." (R 10)

On December 22, 1992, the trial court denied the motion. (R 32-34) The Trial court's denial is the subject of this petition. The portion of the trial court's order pertinent to this petition reasoned:

... Defendant claims that the court erred in not giving written reasons for departing from the sentencing guidelines until after it had imposed sentence on Defendant. This ground has been raised and rejected on direct appeal. The First District Court held that the Florida Supreme Court's decision in Ree v. State, 565 So. 2d 1329 (Fla. 1990), requiring written reasons for departure to be given at the sentencing hearing, was not to be retroactively applied to Defendant's case. Brown, 565 So. 2d at 370.

However, Defendant claims that he is entitled to relief based on Smith v. State, 598 So. 2d 1063, 1066 (Fla. 1992), in which the Florida Supreme Court receded in part from Ree to the extent that it made the Ree holding retroactive. Defendant's argument is unavailing as it is inconsistent with the supreme court's overall holding in Smith that changes in the law should be applied retrospectively only in cases pending on direct review or not yet final. Id. at 1066. In fact, there ... [is] language in the decision to the effect that this court should not retrospectively apply Ree in the case at bar since judgment and sentence have become final and Defendant collaterally raises the instant claim in a motion for post-conviction relief. [Footnote here] Id. at 1066, n. 5. [Footnote: The court cannot conceive of any possible prejudice to Defendant by the court following the law as it existed at the time and drafting its order giving formal written reasons for imposing a departure sentence after the sentencing hearing. To the contrary, Defendant

would have a better argument if this court had come with its order already prepared beforehand and treated the sentencing hearing and the arguments presented therein as mere formalities. The new holding in <u>Smith</u>, rendered nearly three years after Defendant's conviction and a year-and-a-half after the Florida Supreme Court denied review, does not apply in a case such as this so as to provide Defendant an undeserved windfall.]

(R 32-33; bold in original)

Respondent appealed to the First District Court of Appeal the trial court's denial of his Motion for Post-Conviction Relief. Respondent's appeal raised only one issue, the contemporaneous writing requirement for guidelines departures. The State moved for the District Court of Appeal to take judicial notice of the issuance of its September 24, 1990, mandate in BrownI and moved to dismiss the appeal because the Motion for Post-Conviction Relief was untimely. The State argued that, when measured from the date of the DCA's mandate in BrownI, Respondent's Motion for Post-Conviction Relief was outside the two-year limit of Rule 3.850(b), Fla. R. Cr. P. By published order in Brown v. State, 617 So. 2d 1105 (Fla. 1993)(BrownIII, attached as Appendix 3), the DCA granted the State's motion to take judicial notice but denied the motion to dismiss the appeal. The DCA said the essence of the State's motion-to-dismiss argument was that "the trial court reached the correct result for the wrong reason" and that this argument would be properly included in the State's answer brief. "In the interest of judicial economy," the DCA resolved the question presented in the State's motion to dismiss and declared that Respondent's Motion for Post-Conviction Relief was timely because it was filed within two years of the date that the Florida Supreme Court, in BrownII, denied review of BrownI.

In Brown v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D645 (Fla. 1st DCA March 24, 1994)(BrownIV attached as Appendix 4), the First District Court of Appeal decided the merits of the trial

court's denial of Respondent's Motion for Post-Conviction Relief. <u>Brown</u>IV is the subject of this petition. <u>Brown</u>IV noted the language in footnote five of <u>Smith</u> that the State argued distinguished <u>Smith</u>'s applicability from collateral review, but <u>Brown</u>IV held that <u>Smith</u>, required reversal and remand "for re-sentencing within the guidelines." 19 Fla. L. Weekly at D646.

BrownIV stayed the DCA's mandate and certified as having "great public importance" the question presented in this brief as the Issue. Therefore, the case presented by this petition may be called BrownV.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

ISSUE.

The contemporaneous writing requirement for sentencing guidelines departures that Ree enunciated does not apply to Respondent. Therefore, the certified question should be answered negatively.

Respondent is attempting to use <u>Smith</u> to apply the contemporaneous writing requirement through a motion for post-conviction relief. <u>Smith</u> explicitly distinguished its direct-appeal situation from collateral review. Therefore, to the degree that Respondent relies upon <u>Smith</u>, his own case indicates that he is not entitled to the benefit of the contemporaneous writing rule. Moreover, <u>Smith</u> did not even exist at the time that the Respondent's direct appeal was finalized. Smith came **fifteen** months later.

At the time of Respondent's direct appeal, Ree indicated that the contemporaneous writing rule would apply only to cases in which the sentencing transpired after the date of the Ree decision. Since the rule Ree announced was to be applied only prospectively, it was not applied in Ree, rendering the rule dicta in Ree. Ree announced this Court's intentions for future cases. Therefore, when Respondent's case was decided on direct appeal, there was no precedent that changed the law regarding written departure reasons, and Ree's dicta announced that the contemporaneous writing rule did not apply to situations like Respondent's, where the sentencing occurred pre-Ree.

Consequently, Respondent's claim was correctly decided on direct appeal, and he should not be allowed to, in effect, obtain an undeserved windfall through a second appeal of the same issue. Accordingly, the issue is controlled by Witt and its progeny and the doctrine of law of the case.

The decision of the First District Court of Appeal that produced the certified question here is understandable, given some confusing language in <u>Smith</u>. The Court is urged to clarify <u>Smith</u> by limiting it to its facts.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### **ISSUE**

IN VIEW OF *SMITH V. STATE*, 598 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 1992), DOES THE DECISION IN *REE V. STATE*, 565 So.2d 1329 (Fla. 1990), REQUIRE REVERSAL AND REMAND FOR IMPOSITION OF A GUIDELINES SENTENCE IN A CASE THAT WAS PENDING ON DIRECT APPEAL WHEN *REE* WAS DECIDED, WAS FINALLY DISPOSED OF IN ACCORDANCE WITH *REE*, AND IN WHICH THE ISSUE WAS RAISED AGAIN BY MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF AFTER ISSUANCE OF *SMITH*?

The question certified by the First District Court of Appeal is stated as the issue above. This case, <u>Brown</u>V, arose due to the trial court's denial of Respondent's motion for post-conviction relief. Therefore, this case concerns whether Respondent can obtain the benefit of <u>Smith</u>'s discussion through a motion for post-conviction relief even though his direct appeal was finalized fifteen months prior to Smith.

More specifically, <u>Brown v. State</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D645 (Fla. 1st DCA March 24, 1994)(<u>BrownIV</u>), is the case for which the State seeks this review in this petition. <u>BrownIV</u> and Respondent have used <u>Smith v. State</u>, 598 So. 2d 1063 (Fla. 1992), to dispose of the issue of whether the contemporaneous writing requirement applies to the upward departure in sentencing Respondent. <u>Smith</u> was decided **fifteen months** after the contested sentence became final in <u>BrownII</u>, when this Court denied review on January 2, 1991.<sup>2</sup> His attempted

As discussed supra, BrownIII (Appendix 3) decided that the date of this Court's denial of review of BrownI determined when the judgment and sentence became final.

use of Ree and Smith, as well as the status of this case as BrownV, are evidence of (A) a misunderstanding of the fundamental nature of precedent, the wisdom of (B) Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980), and (C) the doctrine of law of the case. Therefore, the District Court of Appeal erred in BrownIV when it reversed the trial court's denial of Respondent's motion for post-conviction relief on the ground that the trial court failed to provide contemporaneous written reasons for its sentencing departure.

Before proceeding with the details of the first argument, however, it may be helpful to summarize some key events and their dates:

- 8-18-89 Judgment and sentence (R 55-59);
- 8-23-89 Trial court's written reasons for departure from guidelines (filed 8-24-89)(R 60-64);
- 4-26-90 <u>Pope</u> decided;
- 7-19-90 <u>Ree</u> decided;
- 8-6-90 BrownI (Appendix 1) decided; DCA affirmed the judgment and sentence based upon language in Ree that it was prospective only;
- 1-2-91 <u>Brown</u>II (Appendix 2) decided; in <u>Brown</u>II this Court denied review of <u>Brown</u>I;
- 4-2-92 <u>Smith</u> decided;
- 11-17-92 Motion for post-conviction relief (R 1-7) filed;
- 12-22-92 Order (Appendix 6) and its attachments (R 32-64) denying motion for post-conviction relief;
- 3-24-94 <u>Brown</u>IV (Appendix 4) decided; DCA reversed denial of motion for post-conviction relief due to <u>Smith</u>; no other ground was raised in the appeal.

The State will elaborate on its arguments pertaining to the fundamental nature of precedent and its application to Ree and Pope, the wisdom of Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980), and the law of the case. The State will conclude with an argument that Smith should be limited to its facts.

### A. The significance of Ree and Pope.

Ree interprets a pertinent statute and related Rules of Criminal Procedure. Section 921.001(6), Fla. Stat., provided that departures from the sentencing guidelines "must be explained in writing by the trial court judge." This Court implemented the statutory provision with two Rules, 3.701(b)(6), Fla. R. Cr. P., providing that departures "shall be articulated in writing," and 3.701(d)(11), Fla. R. Cr. P., providing that departures "must be accompanied by a written statement delineating the reasons for the departure." See Ree, supra at 1331. In other words, Ree interpreted Rules of Criminal Procedure, which in turn interpreted a statute. Therefore, Ree, Smith, and related cases basically are cases interpreting a Florida statute. The Florida legislature recently highlighted this point by its amendment of the pertinent statute to allow the trial court fifteen days to render a written departure order if its reasons were orally expressed at sentencing. See §921.016(1)(c), Fla. Stat. (1993).

However, prior to the legislature's action providing the fifteen-day window, this Court grappled with implementing the legislative writing requirement through a long line of cases.

Under the United States Constitution, state courts are generally vested with the discretion of whether to make its case law prospective or retrospective. See Wainwright v. Stone, 414 U.S. 21, 38 L.Ed.2d 179, 94 S.Ct. 190 (1973); Rumble v. Smith, 905 F.2d 176 (8th Cir. 1990).

For example, <u>Stewart v. State</u>, 549 So. 2d 171 (Fla. 1989), remanded for the trial court to correct its error of not providing written departure reasons. <u>Stewart cited State v. Jackson</u>, 478 So. 2d 1054 (Fla. 1985), as authority. <u>Jackson</u> had also remanded with directions to comply with the written departure requirement.

Pope emphasized that written reasons enhance "meaningful and expeditious appellate review," Id. at 555, and implicitly receded from Stewart and Jackson by holding "that when an appellate court reverses a departure sentence because there were no written reasons, the court must remand for resentencing with no possibility of departure from the guidelines." 561 So. 2d at 556. Accordingly, Pope quashed the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal, which would have given "the trial court the opportunity to provide written reasons justifying the departure" upon resentencing Pope. Id. at 555.

Ree is an interesting and much misunderstood case. Whereas Pope's facts concerned the remedy for a total failure to provide written departure reasons prior to appeal, Ree, on direct appeal, interpreted the pertinent rules and statute to require that the written reasons be contemporaneous with the sentencing. The trial judge had waited five days to produce written departure reasons. By answering the certified question in the affirmative, Ree concluded that a trial court must "produce written reasons for departure from the sentencing guidelines at the sentencing hearing." However, Ree explicitly stated that "[t]his holding ... shall only be applied prospectively." 565 So. 2d at 1331. The real question is, as a matter of binding precedent, what does Ree actually represent? The key to understanding Ree's relationship to the law is its language, "only be applied prospectively." To understand the impact of this

language, one must refer to fundamental principles regarding the nature of precedent, the nature of case law.

The concept of precedent is at the heart of how cases create law. Black's Law Dictionary (1979) defines precedent:

An adjudged case or decision of a court, considered as furnishing an example or authority for an identical or similar case afterwards arising or a similar question of law. Courts attempt to decide cases on the basis of principles established in prior cases. Prior cases which are close in facts or legal principles to the case under consideration are called precedents. A rule of law established for the first time by a court for a particular type of case and thereafter referred to in deciding similar cases.

<u>Id.</u> at 1059. The underlined text above stresses the pivotal role of the facts of the particular case. Re's Brief Writing and Oral Argument (1965) elaborates:

... the proposition of law contended must actually have arisen in the prior case and must have been necessary for the determination of that case. Unless the proposition was stated in order to decide the case, the utterance of the judge is said to be judicial dictum or obiter dictum \* \* \* an authority only in a 'like case'; hence, if the advocate can demonstrate to the court a distinguishing feature, a different factual pattern, the prior decision is not binding authority although the facts, generally, may come from within the same genre of cases.

<u>Id.</u> at 74-75 (italics in original). It is clear that dicta can be very persuasive, <u>Id.</u> at 74, for example, as an indication "how the court is likely to rule if confronted with a similar situation in the future." Dernbach & Singleton, A Practical Guide to Legal Writing and Legal Method 22 (1981). Thus, the formation of precedent requires the interplay of the judicial opinion, the facts of the particular case, and the outcome of the case. Determining the nature of a specific precedent becomes a three step process:

1. Determine all of the facts as seen by the court and as included in the court's opinion;

- 2. Discover which of these facts are material to the outcome of the case by looking at and analyzing the opinion; and,
- 3. State the nature of the binding precedent: If a court bases the outcome of the case on facts A and B, in the future, a case with facts A and B must have the same outcome.

See Goodhart, Determining the Ratio Decidendi of a Case, 40 Yale L.J. 161 (1930).

Judge Edmondson provided a succinct and clear treatment of this subject:

... no matter how often or how plainly a judicial panel may put in its opinion that 'we hold X,' 'X' is not law and is not binding on later panels unless 'X' was squarely presented by the facts of the case and was a proposition that absolutely must have been decided to decide the concrete case then before the court.

New York Largo, Inc. v. Monroe Co., 985 F.2d 1488, 1500 n. 7 (11th Cir. 1993)(concurring). Consistent with Goodhart's analytical process, Judge Edmondson explained that judges have a duty to look beyond what an opinion says it does and analyze what it actually does by means of precedent. Thus, an opinion may contain general rules, tests, standards, or guidelines that are not actually binding as precedent. See Id.

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