#### ISSUE PRESENTED

\*

IN VIEW OF <u>SMITH V. STATE</u>, 598 So.2d 1063 (Fla.1992), DOES THE DECISION IN REE V. <u>STATE</u>, 565 So.2d 1329 (Fla.1990), REQUIRE REVERSAL AND REMAND FOR IMPOSITION OF A GUIDELINES SENTENCE IN A CASE THAT WAS PENDING ON DIRECT APPEAL WHEN REE WAS DE-CIDED, WAS FINALLY DISPOSED OF IN ACCORD-ANCE WITH REE, AND IN WHICH THE ISSUE WAS RAISED AGAIN BY MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF AFTER ISSUANCE OF <u>SMITH</u>?

The District Court of Appeal, First District certified the issue above as a question of great public importance. <u>Brown v.</u> <u>State</u>, 634 So.2d 735, 737 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994)(<u>Brown IV</u>)(A 1-3). Respondent urges that this Court answer the certified question in the affirmative.

In its opinion, the District Court stated that it affirmed respondent's sentence on appeal because in <u>Ree</u>, this Court held that its ruling would apply only prospectively. The Court then noted that in <u>Smith v. State</u>, 598 So. 2d 1063 (Fla. 1992), this Court modified <u>Ree</u> and held that <u>Ree</u> shall apply to all cases not yet final when mandate issued after rehearing in <u>Ree</u>. The Court concluded that even though its decision in <u>Brown I</u> was correct under the law as it existed at the time of the appeal, "<u>Smith</u> requires that we reverse and remand this case for resentencing within the guidelines," <u>citing Owens v. State</u>, 598 So. 2d 64 (Fla.1992), and <u>Blair v. State</u>, 598 So. 2d 1068 (Fla. 1992). 634 So. 2d at 736. The Court, however, certified the question whether reversal is required in a case that was in the

- 4 -

pipeline when <u>Ree</u> was decided and in which the issue is raised again in a motion for post-conviction relief after issuance of Smith.

**ب** ۴

**د** ۲

> Respondent concurs with the District Court's holding that <u>Smith</u> requires reversal here but disagrees with one premise in the Court's certified question. The Court's opinion correctly reflects that the issue of whether contemporaneous written reasons are required for a departure sentence was raised on direct appeal, but the certified question incorrectly presupposes that the issue was "finally disposed of in accordance with Ree."

> On direct appeal, respondent argued that the trial court erred in departing from the sentencing guidelines without providing contemporaneous written reasons at the time sentence was pronounced [A 4-35, 36-48]. Respondent relied in part on this Court's decision in <u>Ree v. State</u>, 14 Fla. L. Weekly S565 (Fla. Nov. 6, 1989)(<u>Ree I</u>), which held that a trial court must issue its written departure order at the time sentencing is imposed. Respondent also relied upon the First District's decision in <u>Walker v. State</u>, 555 So. 2d 1221 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990)(On Motion for Rehearing and Rehearing En Banc), in which the court first held that "Although the contemporaneity requirement is by now well established," 555 So. 2d at 1223, any error was harmless, but on rehearing, reversed and remanded on the basis of <u>Ree I</u>. The court explained that subsequent to its opinion, this Court decided Ree and concluded that Ree was controlling:

> > Ree holds that a trial court must issue its written departure statement at the time sentence is pronounced. In the

> > > - 5 -

instant case, the trial court failed to issue its departure statement until eight days after sentencing. Although we deemed the delay harmless, <u>Ree</u> requires strict contemporaneity and seems to leave no room for harmless error analysis. Under <u>Ree</u>, the instant case would have to be remanded for resentencing.

### 555 So. 2d at 1225. [A 4-35].

s. \*

\*

<u>Walker v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, was decided on January 31, 1990, six months before the decision in <u>Brown I</u> and applied to a case pending disposition when <u>Ree I</u> was decided. However, on July 19, 1990, this Court withdrew its earlier decision and issued a substitute opinion in <u>Ree v. State</u>, 565 So. 2d 1329 (Fla.1990), and again held that a contemporaneous written statement of the reasons for departure is mandatory but further ruled that "This holding, . . ., shall only be applied prospectively." 565 So. 2d at 1331. Based on this holding, the First District denied respondent relief in Brown I.

Petitioner characterizes the court's opinion in <u>Brown I</u> as "insightful" (PB 17), when, in fact, it represented a departure from the court's own precedent. At the time <u>Brown I</u> was issued in August 1990, the First District had reversed the sentence in <u>Walker</u>, as well as in several other cases which did not comport with <u>Ree</u>. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Owens v. State</u>, 563 So. 2d 180 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), <u>guashed</u>, 598 So. 2d 64 (Fla. 1992).<sup>1</sup> The court was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The District in <u>Owens</u> reversed the sentence and remanded to the trial court for resentencing in accordance with the decision in <u>Ree</u>, but held that the trial court could reimpose (Footnote Continued)

obviously aware of the contemporaneity requirement and had been applying it to pipeline cases such as respondent's. Thus, precedent existed for reversal in <u>Brown I</u>. Respondent simply had the misfortune of having his appeal heard too late to benefit from <u>Ree I</u> and, according to petitioner, too early to take advantage of <u>Smith v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>. Far from being insightful, the District Court's opinion in <u>Brown I</u> failed to account for a long line of case law establishing that appellate courts must apply the law in effect at the time of its decision. That <u>Ree</u> was intended to apply to pipeline cases was clarified in <u>Smith</u> v. State, supra.

In <u>Smith</u>, this Court declared that <u>Ree</u> shall apply to all cases not yet final when mandate issued after rehearing in <u>Ree</u>. Petitioner stresses that <u>Smith</u> was decided fifteen months after respondent's case became final in <u>Brown II</u> and posits that the holding in <u>Smith</u> should apply only to cases in which sentencing occurred prior to July 19, 1990, the date <u>Ree</u> was decided, and which were pending on appeal at the time <u>Smith</u> was decided in 1992 (PB 20). Such a narrow reading of <u>Smith</u> would effectively preclude everyone but Ms. Smith from getting the benefit of the <u>Smith</u> decision. This view is also contrary to the express language of Smith itself: "Ree shall apply to all cases not yet

(Footnote Continued)

•

۹. ۲

its departure sentence on remand by providing contemporaneous written reasons. This Court reversed on the authority of Pope v. State, 561 So. 2d 554 (Fla. 1990), and held that the case had to be remanded for resentencing with no possibility of a departure from the guidelines.

<u>final when mandate issued after rehearing in Ree</u>." 598 So. 2d at 1066. <u>See also Owens v. State</u>, <u>supra</u> (<u>Smith</u> applied to case pending on appeal when <u>Ree</u> became final but before decision was issued in <u>Smith</u>). As recognized by the court below in rejecting this same argument, <u>Smith</u> intended to make <u>Ree</u> applicable to cases in the pipeline when <u>Ree</u> became final, not when <u>Smith</u> was issued. Consequently, the date this Court issued <u>Smith</u> is not relevant to the inquiry. Respondent's case unquestionably falls squarely within the relevant time period.

e È

ŝ

The fact that <u>Ree</u> said that its holding should be applied prospectively does not preclude its application to cases in the judicial "pipeline" after <u>Ree</u> became final and before <u>Smith</u> was decided.<sup>2</sup> Indeed, it would be fundamentally unfair to deny relief to respondent and others similarly situated who diligently raised the issue on direct appeal but whose cases fell between the cracks of this Court's decisions Ree and Smith.

Morales v. State, 613 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1993), is on point. Morales was sentenced in April, 1986. The trial court imposed a departure sentence but did not file its written reasons until seven days after sentencing. Morales' appeal was pending when

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Petitioner contends that <u>Ree</u> has no precedential value, mistakenly relying on the notion that, "By making the contemporaneous writing rule prospective only, <u>Ree</u> did not apply the rule to <u>its</u> facts. Instead, the <u>Ree</u> Court said that we will apply the rule in a future set of cases" (PB 15). Contrary to this notion, the rule in <u>Ree</u> was retrospectively applied to Ree himself, as noted by the Court in <u>Smith v. State</u>, 598 So. 2d at 1064.

<u>Ree</u> was first decided, and pursuant to <u>Ree</u>, the Third District reversed the sentence and remanded for resentencing within the guidelines. <u>Morales v. State</u>, 563 So. 2d 2ll (Fla. 3d DCA 1990). Thereafter, the substitute opinion in <u>Ree</u> was issued, and, on remand, the trial court again departed from the guidelines. On Morales' motion to enforce the court's mandate, the District Court withdrew its <u>Morales I</u> opinion. Morales again appealed his departure sentence, and by then <u>Smith</u> was decided, holding that <u>Ree</u> should be applied retrospectively to pipeline cases. Consequently, the district court reinstated its opinion in <u>Morales I</u>, reversed the departure sentence, and remanded for resentencing within the guidlines.

٠,

Respondent similarly fell between the cracks of <u>Ree I</u> and <u>Ree</u> on rehearing, and the district court affirmed his departure sentence. After <u>Smith</u> was decided, however, the circuit court denied respondent's motion for post-conviction relief, finding that <u>Smith</u> applied <u>Ree</u> only to cases pending on direct review or not yet final and thus <u>Ree</u> did not apply to the case at bar because respondent's judgment and sentence was final (R 32-35). This was error as respondent's case was pending direct review and not yet final when <u>Ree</u> was decided, and he was entitled to the benefit of that decision, just as the defendant in Morales.

The instant case also fits squarely within the holding of <u>Owens v. State, supra</u>. Owens, like respondent, "was a passenger on a railroad train which was derailed in <u>Smith v. State</u>." 598 So. 2d at 64. Owens' direct appeal was decided on June 18, 1990 (two months before Brown I), while rehearing was pending

- 9 -

in <u>Ree</u>. The First District reversed Owens' departure sentence because the trial judge did not issue its written order until a month after sentence was imposed and remanded for resentencing in accordance with <u>Ree</u>. However, the district court held that on remand, the trial court could again depart and still comply with <u>Ree</u> by issuing a contemporaneous departure order. This Court guashed the district court's decision, stating:

> On rehearing in <u>Ree</u>, this Court stated that <u>Ree</u> would apply prospectively only. [Citation omitted]. Such a prospective application would preclude relief for Owens as he was sentenced before <u>Ree</u> became final. However, Owens was a passenger on a railroad train which was derailed in <u>Smith v. State</u>, 598 So. 2d 1063 (Fla. 1992), when we receded from this position and held that both <u>Ree</u> and <u>Pope</u> are applicable to all cases not yet final at the time mandate issued after rehearing in <u>Ree</u> or at the time <u>Pope</u> was decided. 598 So. 2d at 1066. Thus, both <u>Ree</u> and <u>Pope</u> are applicable to Owens' case.

598 So. 2d 64.

Respondent is entitled to the same result, even though his case came to this Court on collateral review instead of discretionary review, as in <u>Owens</u> and <u>Smith</u>. The method of review is not controlling; the applicable law in effect at the time of the appeal is. <u>See James v. State</u>, 615 So. 2d 668 (Fla. 1993) (defendant entitled to benefit of United States Supreme Court's decision in <u>Espinosa v. Florida</u>, 505 U.S. 112, 112 S.Ct. 2926, 120 L.Ed.2d 854 (1992), where James raised the issue at trial and on direct appeal and <u>Espinosa</u> was decided while his appeal was pending from the denial of his motion for post-conviction relief). In <u>Reed v. State</u>, 565 So. 2d 708 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990)(On Motion for Rehearing), the court rejected the state's argument that <u>Pope v. State</u>, 542 So. 2d 423 (Fla. 1990), should not be applied retroactively to cases pending on appeal when <u>Pope</u> was decided, reasoning:

> The state claims that the trial court, which imposed sentence before the supreme court's Pope decision, was entitled to rely on case law as it existed at that time. However, this case is a 'pipeline case,' and, therefore, the question of retroactivity is not implicated. A 'pipeline case' is one in which a conviction is not final by trial or appeal at the time a controlling decision is issued by the supreme court. Smith v. State, 496 So.2d 983 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986). The appellate process is not completed until a mandate is issued. Thibodeau v. Sarasota Memorial Hospital, 449 So.2d 297 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). Since the time has not expired for issuance of a mandate in this case, and since appellant is entitled to the benefit of the law at the time of appellate disposition, we are required to apply the Pope rule at this Cantor v. Davis, 489 So.2d 18 (Fla. time. 1986); State v. Castillo, 486 So.2d 565 (Fla.1986); Wheeler v. State, 344 So.2d 244 (Fla.1977); McIntire v. State, 381 So.2d 1154 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980).

> This principle, that the law in effect at the time of appeal should be applied, is applicable to motions for rehearing. See, e.g., Williams v. State, 546 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989); Winfield v. State, 503 So.2d 333 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986).

565 So. 2d at 708-709.

÷ ،

<u>ج</u>

<u>Reed</u>'s holding that an appellate court must apply the law in effect at the time of its decision is not a novel concept. This Court has often held, in a variety of contexts, that its decisions should be applied to "pipeline cases." For example, in <u>Castillo v. State</u>, 486 So. 2d 565 (Fla. 1986), this Court held that its decision in <u>State v. Neil</u>, 457 So. 2d 481 (Fla. 1984), applied to all cases pending on direct appeal at the time <u>Neil</u> became final, stating:

> Generally, an appellant is entitled to the benefit of the law at the time of appellate disposition. Dougan v. State, 470 So.2d 697, 701 n. 2 (Fla.1985). We see no exception to this principle in this case. Our comment in <u>Neil</u> that it should not be applied retroactively was intended to apply to completed cases.

# Id.

् ्

e 2

> Likewise, in <u>Bundy v. State</u>, 471 So. 2d 9 (Fla. 1985), the Court deemed inadmissible hypnotically refreshed testimony and expressly held that its new rule would be prospective only, but further held that the ruling be applied to "any conviction presently in the appeals process." Id., at 18-19.

> In <u>Wheeler v. State</u>, 344 So. 2d 244 (Fla. 1977), the Court applied its decision in <u>Roberts v. State</u>, 335 So. 2d 285 (Fla. 1976), requiring trial judges to instruct juries as to the consequences of a verdict of not guilty by reason of insanity, to cases not yet final on appeal, despite the fact that the trial judge did not have the benefit of the decision in <u>Roberts</u>. The Court said:

> > The decisional law in effect at the time an appeal is decided governs the issues raised on appeal, even where there has been a change of law since the time of trial. [Citations omitted].

<u>Id</u>., at 245.

- 12 -

In the same vein, the Court in <u>Smith v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, held that <u>Ree</u> should apply with respect to all nonfinal cases. In so holding, this Court was

۰ ک

persuaded that the principles of fairness and equal treatment under Griffith [v. Kentucky, 479 U.S. 314, 107 S.Ct. 708, 93 L.Ed.2d 649 (1987)], which are embodied in the due process and equal protection provisions of article I, sections 9 and 16 of the Florida Constitution, compel us to adopt a similar evenhanded approach to the retrospective application of the decisions of this Court with respect to all nonfinal cases. Any rule of law that substantially affects the life, liberty, or property of criminal defendants must be applied in a fair and evenhanded manner. Aft. I, §§ 9, 16, Fla.Const. "[T]he integrity of judicial review requires that we apply [rule changes] to all similar cases pending on direct review." Griffith, 479 U.S. at 323, 107 S.Ct. at 713.

598 So. 2d at 1066 [footnote omitted]. The Court went on to explain that selective application of new rules violates the principle of treating similarly situated defendants the same, becauses it causes actual inequity when the Court chooses which of many similarly situated defendants should be the beneficiary of the new rule. The Court concluded that

> any decision of this Court announcing a new rule of law, or merely applying an established rule of law to a new or different factual situation, must be given retrospective application by the courts of this state in every case pending on direct review or not yet final.

> > - 13 -

# Id. [Footnote omitted].<sup>3</sup>

्ष्

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